
1860 
Captain George Henry Richards of the 
Royal Navy names Beaver Cove during 
his survey of the British Columbia and 
Vancouver Island coastlines.
1864
‘Namgis are still living at Ni’nalgas, 
a village site near the Nimpkish River 
and Woss River junction.

1908 
The Nimpkish Lake Logging Company 
is incorporated on July 6 and acquires 
the Tracey and Garland sawmill 
business in Vancouver. The company 
builds a logging railway called the 
Nimpkish Lake Tramway Company.
Horses are used to clear land for 
railway building. The railway is built 
starting at the closest location to 
tidewater for ease of log shipment, the 
mouth of the Nimpkish River.

1917 
The Beaver Cove Lumber and Pulp 
Company is constructs its facilities 
at the mouth of the Kokish River 
to produce lightweight spruce for 
airplane construction and cellulose for 
the production of gun cotton for war 
munitions. 
The Beaver Cover pulp mill is the first 
in B.C. 

1914 
During the commission ‘Namgis 
Chiefs request land at Wa’s/Woss.
World War I begins 

1923 
The Beaver Cove Public School is 
installed in one of the houses of 
the Beaver Cove Lumber and Pulp 
Company.

1917 
The Nimpkish Timber Company 
is formed by Frederick Wood of 
Bellingham and Edward English of 
Mount Vernon, Washington.

The company purchases the 
Nimpkish Lake Logging Company, 
including timber blocks and logging 
equipment, utilizing the existing 
railway and expanding the logging 
operation on Nimpkish Lake.  
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Beaver Cove school, 1923.

Married quarters at Camp 2, 1927.
Camp 2 is located in a small bay at the 

northeast corner of Nimpkish Lake. 
Two coal-fired tugboats and one gas 
boat served the lake, the only means 

of communication with the other 
logging camps. 

Interior of the Wood & English 
sawmill in Englewood, 1926.

Nimpkish Lake floating camp, 
1945. It is an example of 
the unique living situations 
experienced by forest workers 
and their families.

Canadian Forest Products’ Woss 
Camp in 1948.

1910
The Nimpkish Lake Logging 
Company acquires its first 
locomotive, a Lima Shay C/N2066. 
Logged firewood is used to power 
the steam donkeys and locomotive.  
The company embarks on right-of-
way clearing, cutting railway ties and 
constructing elements for bridge 
structures. 
51/2 miles of logging railway is 
completed.

Beaver Cove Lumber Company, 
1919.

Beaver Cove Lumber Company 
sawmill, 1918.

Log chute on the Nimpkish 
River, 1913.
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Alert Bay First Nations 
fishing in the Nimpkish 
River, c.1870.

Dense forests of hemlock, Douglas-
fir, and cedar are found from shore’s 
edge to high on the mountain 
slopes. 
In open areas and along the 
margins of streams and lakes, there 
are trailing blackberries and shrubs 
like salal, huckleberry, cranberry, and 
salmonberry.
Large land mammals in the area 
include deer, elk, bear, cougar, and 
wolves.

1864 map of the region 
showing the location of 
Beaver Cove.

10,000 years before present
Oldest identified village site on Woss 
River as of 2018 archaeological survey.
6400 ybp
Rock shelter used on Woss-Tahsis trail.
6,000 ybp
A village site is located at Woss Lake.

Sockeye salmon in the Nimpkish 
River.

In the lower reaches of the 
Nimpkish River, pink, chum, and 
coho salmon spawn in gravel on the 
river bottom. 
Sockeye and spring salmon move 
through Nimpkish Lake to ascend 
and deposit their eggs in its feeder 
streams. 

BEAVER COVE

ENGLEWOOD

1913-1916
The McKenna-McBride 

Royal Commission has a 
significant impact on First 

Nations reserve lands 
by adding to, reducing 

and eliminating reserves 
throughout the province.

1920s 
The Nimpkish Timber Company 
builds at least four logging camps, 
one of which, Camp 2, is located at 
the north end of Nimpkish Lake.
This is the location of the ‘load out,’ 
where logs were lifted out of the lake 
onto rail cars.

1940
The Beaver Cove Lumber and Pulp 
Company and the holdings of the 
Wood & English Lumber Company 
are sold to a new company, Canadian 
Forest Products, known as Canfor. 
Englewood becomes a division of 
Canfor. 

1942
Machinery from the Englewood mill 
is removed to be used as scrap metal 
to aid in the war effort.

1939
World War II begins.
The B.C. Forest Service and the 
Department of Highways join 
abandoned logging railway grades on 
northern Vancouver Island to create 
road access to Kelsey Bay, primarily 
to service the military gun battery at 
Yorke Island, part of the west coast 
defenses again invasion from Japan.

1924 
Frederick Wood and Edward English 
form the Wood & English Lumber 
Company, combining their assets into 
a logging and sawmilling operation.

They extend the railway to a site near 
Beaver Cover, the site of the modern, 
electric-powered sawmill.

A community, called Englewood after 
the owners, grows up around the 
sawmilll site.

The community has a store, 
warehouses, docks, family houses, a 
school and bunkhouses for Japanese 
Canadian workers.

Wood & English would operate 10 
logging camps in the Nimpkish 
Valley, connected by the logging 
railway.

The Wood & English 
sawmill, 1926. 

1929 
The Nimpkish Lake Logging 
Company is dissolved. 
St. Michael’s Residential School is 
constructed at Alert Bay.
The Great Depression has an 
impact on the economic prosperity 
of the logging and sawmilling 
industries, leaving some operations 
in disrepair.

Otto Auer, cook at Canfor’s logging 
Camp L in 1949.

Time immemorial
Members of the ‘Namgis First Nation 
occupy the Nimpkish Valley and nearby 
islands.

1852 
Hamilton Moffat is guided by 
‘Namgis from the mouth of the 
Nimpkish River to Woss River.

1870
The population of B.C. is 36,247,  
70% of which are First Nations. 
‘Indians’ are excluded from receiving 
land grants which are available to 
male settlers who are 18 and British 
subjects.
1888 
Traditional methods of fishing are 
banned.
1894
The explorer Reverend W.W. Bolton 
travels to Woss with ‘Namgis Chiefs.



‘When one arrived at Camp Vernon 
one was at about the most isolated a 
spot in the heart of Vancouver Island 

one could get.’

2018 
The book The Last of 
the Railway Loggers is 
published.

2017 
Eleven loaded railcars escape from 
the Woss reload, resulting in the 
death of three railway workers and 
the severe injury of two others. 
The railway closes down, leaving 
the tracks and trestles empty, and 
increasing the necessity for the use 
of more logging trucks with the 
potential for increased costs and 
pollution.

2015 
With the closing of Simpson Forest 
Products in Washington State, the 
Nimpkish Valley Railway becomes the 
last privately-owned operating logging 
railway in North America.
St. Michael’s Residential School is 
demolished and ‘Namgis members 
hold a blessing of the Land ceremony.20
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The workers’ cookhouse at Woss 
was divided into areas. Two tables 
side-by-side were occupied by the 

younger men who were chokermen, 
swampers, etc. The table in the 

middle of the cookhouse was used by 
the shop workers and the operators 

of grade machinery, while in the third 
area the older loggers ate together.

1951 
Revisions to the Indian Act drop the 
prohibition of the potlatch and the 
‘Namgis reaffirm the importance of 
feasts and ceremonies in their lives.

1957 
Canfor extends a final rail link along 
the east side of Nimpkish Lake creat-
ing a 90-kilometre main line between 
Beaver Cove and Vernon, with reload 
sites at Vernon, Maquilla,Woss, and 
Camp A.
At a time when other major logging 
companies in the Northwest 
are removing railway track and 
converting their railroad grades 
into truck roads, Canfor completes 
construction of a 23-mile railway 
extension at its Fnglewood Division 
to deliver logs to tidewater at Beaver 
Cove. 
Logs are hauled by truck to transfer 
points on the railroad, then 
loaded onto rail cars, an effective 
combination of two major methods 
of overland log transportation.

1950s-1960s 
Local communities are connected 
through the construction of logging 
roads. Bus service becomes available 
for passengers and freight.
Highway 19 connecting Completed in 
1953, the highway was built over most 
of the original highway 19A. 

1950s-1960s 
The forest industry in the Nimpkish 
Valley continues to modernize, with 
new technologies, replacement of in-
frastructure and innovative industry 
solutions.

In the 1950s, speeders were used to 
take shopping trips to Alert Bay, or 

deliver children to school.

Locomotive #113 in 1954.

Teletype machine, 
Nimpkish, 1971.

Tyler skyline system moving a 
truck in the 1970s

123 speeder and trailer at Beaver 
Cove, 2017

Highway 19 between Nimpkish 
Lake and Port Hardy, 1979.
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1950s-1980s
By necessity, people in the camps 
were tightly connected and relied 
upon one another.

The logging industry and its people 
in the Nimpkish Valley have created 
the communities we see today.  

WOSS

The Beaver Cove log sort in 
the community of Englewood 
is the final destination for logs 
transported by the railway.

  

VERNON

The Woss Camp married quarters, 
1960. These were bunkhouses where 
married couples and families lived 
together.

Camps are isolated but together people 
formed a sense of community and look 
out for each other.

The Timberman celebrates the 
completion of the logging railroad.

1964 
Canadian Forest Products connects 
all of its camps with roads. The log-
ging railway continues its use for 
hauling timber and materials.

1966 
The Alert Bay Big House is modeled 
on the traditional residences of the 
Kwakwaka‘wakw.

1972
BC Ferries’ North Island Princess 
connects Kelsey Bay, Beaver Cove, 
Alert Bay, and Sointula.
1979
Highway 19 is extended north to Port 
Hardy, where it terminates at the 
Beaver Cove ferry terminal.

1957
The logging railroad eventually 
extends over 215 kilometres through 
dense forest and over deep ravines. 

Its operation requires the 
construction of nine enormous 
wooden trestle bridges.

1999 
Grand opening of the new Big 
House at Alert Bay.

2006
Western Forest Products purchases 
the Englewood Division (Tree Farm 
License 37) from Canfor. 

Northland Navigation Company 
ferries Northland Prince and 
Haida Prince at Beaver Cover, 
1963.

1954 
Confor acquires logging locomotive 
#113 which becomes a symbol of the 
railway and the community of Woss.
Built in 1920 as a freight engine by 
the Portland, Astoria and Pacific 
Railway it will become the last steam 
logging engine to be used in North 
America.

2001 
‘Namgis First Nation initiates a 
process to re-open and utilize the 
Woss Lake-Tahsis Grease Trail.





Throughout the history of logging in the Nimpkish Valley and 
across B.C., safety of the workers has been a primary concern.
Forestry was indisputably dangerous in the mid-twentieth century. Reflecting this 
realization, safety programs in the 1950s targeted workers and their families. Large 
scale programs like Safety Week aimed to reach the worker’s whole family.All the lives 
lost to forestry made a compelling argument for more stringent safety regulation in 
the woods. 

Efforts by companies and the union were successful in reducing many of the hazards 
of working in forestry. Yet, many of the dangers in this industry persist into the 
twenty-first century.

KEEPING WORKERS SAFE

‘Times like this, 
we just all pull 

together and look 
after one other as 

best we can’

‘We are a small, 
very tight-knit 
community’

‘It’s a heartbreaking 
moment for 

all community 
members on the 
Island and for 

forestry in general’

NIMPKISH VALLEY FOREST 
INDUSTRY WORKERS

A COMMEMORATION
We remember your sacrifice
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UNITED STEELWORKERS LOCAL 1-1937

Since the early part of the twentieth century, and up to
the present day, men and women have been working in

the forest industry on northern Vancouver Island.

In celebration and remembrance of all of those who
have lost their lives as a result of their work in the 
forests of the Nimpkish Valley and across British 

Columbia, and in gratitude to those who have sought to 
improve safety conditions for these workers. 
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WHY A LOGGING RAILROAD?

Woss Heritage Park celebrates 
almost 100 years of railway 
logging in the Nimpkish Valley.

The park’s focal point is 
Locomotive 113, an engine that 
symbolizes the railway as an 
essential part of the logging 
operation.

WOSS

Heritage Park
As the only still-operating logging 
railroad in the country, the railway 
is living history at the heart of the 
Nimpkish Valley logging operations.

The railroad represents both 
historical and environmental 
sustainability in the forest industry.

Locomotive 113 in action in the 
1940s. The locomotive picked 
up Douglas fir, hemlock, balsam, 
Western red cedar and cypress 
logs delivered by truck at three re-
loading sites, and transported them 
to the log sorting facility at Beaver 
Cove.

Imagine the sounds of the train 
whistle and the chugging of steam 
locomotives echoing through the 
quiet forest.   

The logging railroad eventually 
extended over 215 kilometres through 
dense forest and over deep ravines. 

Its operation required the construction 
of nine enormous wooden trestle 
bridges such as this one at Noomass 
Crossing, seen here in the 1950s. 
These engineering feats were 
remarkable for their time.
Today, overpasses crossing the Island 
Highway near Woss indicate the 
location of the logging railroad.  

The Nimpkish Valley railroad was adapted for the challenging 
physical conditions of northern Vancouver Island’s forests.
Timber has been harvested by railroad in he Nimpkish Valley since 1917, when 
the Wood and English Timber Company’s steam locomotives provided the main 
transportation network. Five logging camps provided timber for the sawmill at 
Englewood, with logs towed down Nimpkish Lake to a railway transfer point.  

In 1941, Canadian Forest Products bought the company and acquired the 
railroad along with it. It began a major expansion and modernization in 1954, 
eventually replacing the puffing steam locomotives with powerful diesel engines   

Regional District of 
Mount Waddington
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Canfor

Built in 1920, Loci 113 is known as a 2-8-2 steam locomotive, a 
wheel configuration commonly used in the first half of the 20th 
century, before diesel-powered engines replaced steam.
The 2-8-2 wheel arrangement allowed the locomotive’s firebox to be placed behind 
instead of above the driving wheels, creating space for a larger firebox that was 
both wide and deep. This increased the rate of fuel combustion and capacity for 
steam generation, producing more power at higher speeds.

A coal fire burns in the firebox, heating a boiler full of water to make steam. This 
drives the cylinders and pistons to turn the wheels and propel the engine.

Affectionately known as Loci 113, this steam locomotive remains 
an important part of the history and community of Woss.
Although its last logging run took place in the 1960s, Loci 113 retains a nostalgic 
and historical connection for people in Woss and the Nimpkish Valley. 

It is a symbol of success for the people who worked for many years as crew on 
the logging railway, in the forest industry, and for children who explored the forest 
riding the railway. The locomotive is a sign of identity and home for the Woss 
community, and continues to be important to past residents who return for train 
celebrations, contemporary logger sports competitions and other events.

THE LEGACY OF LOCI 113

LOCI 113: A 2-8-2 STEAM LOCOMOTIVE

It’s our train

Acquired by Canfor in 1953, Loci 
113 was used for logging as late as 
1966, and for popular forestry tours 
until 1976. It was then retired and 
put on display in Woss.

To celebrate Canadian Forest 
Products’ 50th anniversary picnic in 
1988, the newly-restored Loci 113’s 
steam whistle sounded through the 
forest once more. A passenger car 
known as the Grey Ghost was used 
to transport visitors. 

Loci 113’s Specifications

Number: 113

Serial No.: 61859

Built: 1920

Weight: 135 tons

Type: Alco Rod Engine 2-8-2, 
referring to the arrangement of its 
wheels

Builder: Portland, Astoria & Pacific 
Railway based in Oregon, USA

Identifying the parts of Loci 113
1   Chimney - releases engine exhaust
2   Dome - contains safety valves to reduce 

steam pressure
3   Smokebox - exhaust steam and gas from the 

fire passes through to the chimney
4   Boiler - produces steam from water
5   Firebox - burns coal to create steam
6   Cab - houses the engineer
7   Tender - carries water and coal
8   Cylinder - converts steam to power
9   Valve gear - rods, levers, cranks and other 

small parts that provide the links between 
pistons, valves and wheels

10 Wheels - connect to the pistons and drive 
the locomotive

Locomotive 113 with Woss Mountain in background, 1947.

A. Kollman
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By Kathy O’Reilly
In a sombre and emotion-

al ceremony, a memorial 
gazebo was unveiled at the 
Nimpkish Heritage Park in 
Woss on the national Day of 
Mourning April 28.
“Two years ago, lives were 

forever changed when those 
11 rail cars broke loose and 
derailed,” said North Island 
MLA Claire Trevena.
“Clem Reti, Roland Gaudet 

and Jacob Galeazzi died. 
Ralph Poperel and David 
Somerville were injured, 
and the whole community 
changed,” Trevena said. 
“The pain and helplessness 

that people felt who rushed 
to try and help rescue their 
colleagues, their neighbours, 
their friends. The survivors’ 
guilt still felt by people who 
could have been at work 
there that day, but for what-
ever chance, reason, were 
not,” she said.
“There was a palpable sense 

of mourning over the val-
ley and up the whole of the 
North Island,” Trevena said.
“People say accidents hap-

pen, but they should not. No 
worker should go to work 
at the start of a shift and not 
come home at the end of it,” 
she said.
“Logging is a dangerous in-

dustry, but that should mean 
even greater precautions by 

the company, by supervisors, 
by union, by workers. And 
government has a role to 
play in it, too,” said Trevena.
“Our government is tak-

ing steps to try to prevent 
workplace accidents. We are 
tightening employment stan-
dards; we are ending deregu-
lation in the forest industry, 
which allowed for dangerous 
practices,” she said.
“Nothing we do can bring 

back those three men, but we 
all have to make sure we do 
whatever we can, so that no 
other families, no other com-
munities, go through what 
these families and Woss went 
through on April 20, 2017.”
“As humans, we gather for 

birthdays, graduations, wed-
dings – things we share and 
celebrate together as family 
and community, but we also 
gather in remembrance, to 
support one another in our 
shared grief and our sorrow. 
To remember and to honour 
those who should be here, 
but who are not,” said Shir-
ley Ackland, MC for the ser-
vice.
“We fervently believe that 

everyone who goes to work 
should return home to those 
that love them, and we will 
not rest until that day is 
here,” Ackland said.
“We’ve all lost somebody, 

and it affects us in many dif-

ferent ways, and one of the 
things that we need to do that 
is important, is to remember 
them, what they meant to 
us,” said ‘Namgis Chief Don 
Svanvik.
“I’m very happy to stand in 

this gazebo to honour all of 
these people who have gone 
before us and I’m proud to be 
here today and be part of this 
memorial,” Svanvik said.
Memorials are important, 

said Regional District of 
Mount Waddington board 
of directors Chair Andrew 
Hory, “because they remind 
us that we do rely on each 
other. We’re a collective, and 
it can be really easy to forget 
that. I’m very proud to be 
part of the organization that 
helped to put this here. 

“I’m really, really sad for 
the fact that we needed it, but 
we do need it.”
The memorial shows “we 

are not cavalier about the 
things that happen, even 
when they may not be direct-
ly to us, or to our own family. 
They really, really matter,” 
he said.

The memorial gazebo “be-
longs to the community of 
Woss, it represents the com-
munity of Woss, it recogniz-
es the loss that the commu-
nity of Woss has had, and 
by extension all of the other 
people who lost their lives 
when they just got up and 
went to work one day.”
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Memorial gazebo dedicated in Woss on Day of Mourning

A crowd gathered for the dedication of a memorial gazebo in Woss April 28. Below, one of the panels commemorates 
Nimpkish Valley forest industry workers who have lost their lives.

Photo –  Kathy O’Reilly

SAN JOSEF FSR ROAD CLOSURES

No Access to Cape Scott Park
 June 3rd to June 7th 2019 and 
June 10th to June 14th 2019

No Access to Raft Cove Park
June 3rd to June 7th 2019

ATTENTION



Woss Heritage Park Project  

By Dave Florence   Editor, FHABC Newsletter, living in Powell River. The story idea was suggested by Gerry Burch. 

In November 2017, Western Forest 
Products (WFP), operator of the 

Englewood Railway since acquiring 
Canadian Forest Products in 2006, 
announced the permanent closure of 

the railway, which had been shutdown 
since a tragic  accident April 20, 2017 
that took the lives of three workers. 
Logs are now moved by logging 
trucks on the adjacent roads. WFP 
reported that it was the need to reduce 
operating costs, not the accident, that 
led to the closure. Operating in the 
Nimpkish Valley for 100 years, since 
1917, the railway was considered to be 
the last railway in North America 
dedicated to hauling logs.  

Planning had begun in 2012 for Woss 
Heritage Park. WFP moved Steam 
locomotive #113, a 135-ton Alco 2-8-
2 rod engine, to the site in 2014, and 
the viewing platform was added in 
2016.  

As part of a total community effort, 
WFP led a community consultation in 
2018 to determine the next steps to 
record the complete history of the 
logging railway. The Regional District 
of Mount Waddington (RDMW), the 
’Namgis First Nation, WFP and other 

community partners participated. Pat 
English, RDMW’s Woss Heritage 
Park Project Manager, successfully 
secured funding to implement the next 
phase, which included the Gazebo 
(photo right, opened in May 2019).  

Approval of funding was undoubtably 
facilitated by an excellent Statement 
of Significance for the Heritage Park 
which was prepared in 2015 after a 
community consultation and contains 
the conceptual vision and details of the 
park and locomotive #113. 

To complete the phase planned in 
2018, WPF is painting, donating and 
moving to the Park engine #303, a 
General Motors Electro-Motive 
Division SW1200 diesel switcher 
locomotive, which was obtained for 
the railway in the late 1950s and 
operated until recently. A caboose is 
also being donated. If funding from 
the Community Economic Recovery 
Infrastructure Program is approved, 
expected in March 2021, the Park 
additions will include a viewing 
platform for the diesel #303 and 
caboose, washrooms, interpretive 
panels, more signage and trail 
improvements that will connect the 

site to other Nimpkish 
Valley trails.  

Copies of the 
interpretive panels in 
the Gazebo and at the 
#113 viewing 
platform have been 
presented in a 
companion file on our 
website.  Many thanks 
to RDMW for 
providing these 
images for viewing by 
our readers. 
(Download Alert-Very 
large file: 35Megs. And, 
the pdf file has odd-
sized widths; readers 
will have to adjust the 
“zoom” several times to 
get a readable view of 
the various panels.)  

The companion file includes: 
٠  an illustrated timeline of forest 
history in the Nimpkish Valley,  
 ٠ a ’Namgis First Nation traditional 
territory display,  
٠  a commemoration of all lives lost in 
the forests of the Nimpkish Valley and 
across BC, 
٠  the Locomotive #113 interpretive 
panel, 
٠  the report from the Port Hardy 
Eagle about the Gazebo dedication 
held in May 2019, and  
٠  this newsletter piece.  

A book about the Railway has been 
published: Macham, R. S. and 
Atkinson, M. E. (2018) Last of the 
railway loggers. Misery Creek 
Bookworks.  

A 10 minute 2019 video of the Gazebo 
can be played from here 
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https://www.cheknews.ca/after-100-years-englewood-train-in-woss-shuts-down-for-good-385516/
https://www.cheknews.ca/after-100-years-englewood-train-in-woss-shuts-down-for-good-385516/
https://englewoodtrain.com/
http://www.rdmw.bc.ca/media/Woss%20113%20SoS%20and%20Heritage%20Park%20Interpretive%20Concept.pdf
http://www.rdmw.bc.ca/media/Woss%20113%20SoS%20and%20Heritage%20Park%20Interpretive%20Concept.pdf
https://www.fhabc.org/documents/WossHeritagePark-FHABC-Supplement.pdf
https://www.fhabc.org/documents/WossHeritagePark-FHABC-Supplement.pdf
https://www.fhabc.org/documents/WossHeritagePark-FHABC-Supplement.pdf
https://books.google.ca/books?id=8Dk8uwEACAAJ&dq=last+of+the+railway+loggers&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwj72O_jwezsAhVMpZ4KHQK3BS4Q6AEwAHoECAEQAQ
https://books.google.ca/books?id=8Dk8uwEACAAJ&dq=last+of+the+railway+loggers&hl=en&sa=X&ved=2ahUKEwj72O_jwezsAhVMpZ4KHQK3BS4Q6AEwAHoECAEQAQ
https://youtu.be/dAIUXYMZ5x4



